ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PETITIONER'S 

ARREST FOR CHILD PORNOGRAPHY SATISFIES THE GROSS 

MISCONDUCT STANDARD SET FORTH IN W. VA. CODE SEC. 21A-6
3(2)(5). 


2. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PETITIONER 

ENGAGED IN GROSS MISCONDUCT DUE TO ABSENCES FROM 

WORK. 


STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Introduction 

This is an appeal of a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, which upheld 

a decision of the Unemployment Compensation Board of Review. A.R. at 1. The Petitioner, 

Damon D. Greenfield, worked as a games dealer at Respondent PNGI Charles Town Gaming, 

LLC's Hollywood Casino in Charles Town,.West Virginia, from June 21, 2010 to April 17, 2016. 

(A.R. at 13) Damon Greenfield's employment was terminated on April 17,2016. A.R at 1, 13. 

Upon the termination of his employment, the Petitioner filed a claim for unemployment 

compensation benefits. A R. at 2. The WORKFORCE West Virginia Deputy's Decision found 

that the employer failed to present sufficient evidence of misconduct and therefore no 

disqualification could be imposed. A. Rat 18. Respondent PNGI appealed the Deputy's Decision. 

Thereafter, Petitioner's claim was denied upon Administrative Law Judge Gregory A. Tucker's 

finding that Petitioner engaged in gross misconduct and therefor was disqualified from receiving 

benefits. The Administrative Law Judge's Decision was affIrmed by the WV Unemployment 

Compensation Board of Review. 

The issue presented to the Circuit Court was whether Mr. Greenfield was discharged for 

an act of misconduct. Chapter 2IA-6-3(2) of the West Virginia Code provides that an individual 
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is disqualified for benefits if he or she was discharged for gross misconduct consisting of willful 

destruction of the employer's property; assault upon the person of the employer or any employee 

of the employer if such assault is committed at such individual's place of employment or in the 

course of employment; reporting to work in an intoxicated condition, or being intoxicated while 

at work, reporting to work under the influence of any controlled substance without a valid 

prescription, or being under the influence of any controlled substance without a valid prescription 

while at work; adulterating or otherwise manipulating a sample or specimen in order to thwart a 

drug or alcohol test lawfully required of an employee; refusal to submit to random testing for 

alcohol or illegal controlled substances for employees in safety sensitive positions; arson, theft, 

larceny, fraud or embezzlement in connection with work; or any other gross misconduct. The 

burden of proving misconduct is upon the employer. A.R. at 5. 

Respondent claims the reason for Petitioner'~ termination is two-fold. It says that (1) he . . 
was terminated for absenteeism, and (2) he was terminated for violation of company policy, 

specifically "violation of laws on or off company property." A.R. at 13. 

Under Respondent PNGI's policy, employees are discharged when they accumulate ten 

(l0) points under the attendance and tardiness policy. A.R. at 14. Respondent asserts that 

Petitioner accumulated his tenth point when he was absent from work on April 16, 2016, the day 

he was arrested on child pornography charges. A.R. at 14. The arrest is the basis the Respondent 

gave as the second reason for Petitioner's termination: that he was in "violation of laws on or off 

company premises." A.R. at 14. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court was wrong in finding that Petitioner engaged in 

gross misconduct that would disqualify him from receiving unemployment compensation benefits. 
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The Circuit Court agreed with the Board of Review and the Administrative Law Judge in finding 

that Petitioner's arrest satisfies the gross misconduct standard set forth in W.Va. Code §21A-6

3(2)(5). Respondent PNGI's employee policy makes "violation of laws" prohibited employee 

conduct subject to disciplinary action. A. Rat 20. An arrest is not proof of a violation of any law. 

It is one of the most sacred principles in the American criminal justice system that a defendant is 

innocent until proven guilty. 

The Circuit Court also found that Petitioner's absenteeism was sufficient gross misconduct 

to support termination of Petitioner's employment. A.R. at 6. Petitioner argues that the 

Respondent provided insufficient evidence that Petitioner's attendance record violated 

Respondent's attendance policy. Respondent's policy on attendance assesses one "point" for each 

absence from work, but allows employees to "earn back" points over time. A.R. at 14. Simply 

accumulating a tenth point is insufficient to meet the gro;5s misconduct standard where an 

employee may have also earned back points. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The issues raised by the Petitioner have been authoritatively decided by the Court as 

presented in this brief and record on appeal, infra, therefore oral argument under Rev. R.A.P. l8(a) 

is not necessary on those issues unless the Court determines that other issues arising upon the 

record should be addressed, in which case those issues are appropriate for a Rule 19 argument. 

ARGUMENT 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PETITIONER'S 
ARREST FOR CHILD PORNOGRAPHY SATISFIES THE GROSS 
MISCONDUCT STANDARD SET FORTH IN W. VA. CODE SEC. 21A-6-3(2)(5). 

The Circuit Court stated without reservation that "Petitioner's arrest on a felony charge of 

child pornography independently satisfies the gross misconduct standard set forth in W.Va. Code 
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Sec. 21A-6-3(2)(5)." A.R. at 6. There is no doubt, and Petitioner readily acknowledges, that child 

pornography crimes are heinous. A person convicted of felony child pornography can clearly be 

found to have engaged in gross misconduct sufficient to deny unemployment compensation 

benefits. The Petitioner here however, has not been convicted of felony child pornography. 

It must be noted that the Circuit Court did not hear oral argument in this case and its Final 

Order was written by counsel for Respondent PNGI. A.R. at 10. It does not appear that the Circuit 

Court performed its independent judicial function. The Circuit Court adopted the PNGI counsel's 

Order verbatim. To illustrate the Circuit Court's failure to perform its judicial function, not only 

did it adopt and enter the PNGI counsel's Order verbatim, it included as part of its Final Order a 

Certificate of Service signed by PNGI counsel on February 9, 2017, certifying that counsel had 

served his Proposed Order on counsel for the other parties in this case. A.R. at 11. That Certificate 

of Service wa~ date stamped February 23, 2017, the date the Court ente.red the Final Order in this . . 
case. A.R. at 11. 

In preparing the Final Order in this case, PNGI's counsel distracts the Circuit Court by 

focusing on the act of child pornography itself, rather than the true issue presented. By focusing 

all attention on child pornography, the actual issue here is overlooked. The mere fact that a person 

is arrested does not equate to a "violation of laws." In the United States of America, a person is 

presumed innocent until proven guilty. Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432 (1895). 

While the findings of fact of the Board of Review are entitled to substantial deference 

unless a reviewing court believes the findings are clearly wrong, where there are questions that are 

purely of law, no deference is given and the standard of judicial review by the court is de novo. 

Adkins v. Gatson, 192 W.Va. 561,453 S.E.2d 395 (1994). Unemployment compensation statutes, 

being remedial in nature, should be liberally construed to achieve the benign purposes intended to 
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the full extent thereof. Syllabus Point 6, Davis v. Hix, 140 W.Va. 398, 84 S.E.2d 404 (1954), Syi. 

Pt. 2, Childress v. Muzzle, 222 W.Va. 120, 663 S.E.2d 583 (2008), Syi. Pt. 5, Verizon Services 

Corp. v. Epling, 230 W.Va. 439, 739 S.E.2d 290 (2013). 

The Circuit Court's Final Order includes additional guidance from Childress v. Muzzle 

regarding how unemployment statutes should be construed. A.R. at 2. Childress tells us that our 

unemployment compensation laws are "clearly designed to serve not only the interest ofqualifying 

unemployed persons, but also the general public. Childress v. Muzzle, 222 W.Va. at 133, 662 

S.E.2d at 587. No other principle of law serves the interest of the general public than the notion 

that accused persons are innocent until proven guilty. The right to a presumption of innocence is 

so firmly embedded in our law, as demonstrated by the decisive language and unanimity ofthought 

of the huge majority of authorities, that a violation of that right would result in such unfairness as 

to constitute a deprivatlon of one's right to due process oflaw. Pinkerton v. Farr\ 159 W.Va. 223, . . 
220 S.E.2d 682 (W.Va., 1975). The United States Supreme Court, in Hebert v. Louisiana, 272 

U.S. 312,47 S.Ct. 103, 71 L.Ed. 270 (1926), set out its requirements as follows: 'that state action, 

whether through one agency or another, shall be consistent with the fundamental principles of 

liberty and justice which lie at the base ofall our civil and political institutions and not infrequently 

are designated as 'law of the land. " See Bute v. Illinois, 333 U.S. 340,68 S.Ct. 763, 92 L.Ed. 986 

(1947). Aside from all else, due process means fundamental fairness. Pinkerton v. Farr, 159 W.Va. 

at 230, 220 S.E.2d at 687. 

Unemployment compensation statutes are to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. 

Dailey v. Board of Review, 214 W.Va. 419, 589 S.E.2d 797 (2003), Davenport v. Gatson, 192 

W.Va. 117,119,451 S.E.2d 57,59 (1994). Disqualifying provisions of the Unemployment 

Compensation Law are to be narrowly construed. Peery v. Rutledge, 177 W.Va. 548, 355 S.E.2d 
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41 (1987). The employer's policy in this case refers to "violations of law." Where there is no 

evidence of conviction, there can be no violation of law. A person is presumed innocent until 

proven guilty. 

The Circuit Court likened the Petitioner's case to the facts in Smith v. The Brd. OfEduc. 

OfBerkeley, No. 14-0851 (W.va. Sup. Crt. Of Appeals; May 15,2015) (memorandum decision), 

which cited Alcon Rolled Products, LLC v. McCarthy, 234 W.Va. 312, 765 S.E.2d 201 (2014). 

A.R. at 6. In Smith, the court found the claimant had committed gross misconduct when she 

participated in a prank involving an aerosol deodorant spray. A.R. at 7. The Court noted the 

claimant's contempt for her co-worker and disregard of her professionalism supported a finding 

of gross misconduct. A.R. at 7. 

The Circuit Court stated that the Petitioner here "stands in the shoes of the claimant in 

Smith." A.R. at 7. This is simply' not the case. The Circuit Court makes statements such tqat there 

"is no dispute that he committed an act ... " A.R. at 7. There is no evidence that Petitioner did 

anything except get arrested, an event for which, unlike the claimant in Smith, he was not a willing 

participant. Petitioner admitted that his home computer was found to contain child pornography, 

but did not admit that he acted in any way that resulted in that material being on his home 

computer. I The Circuit Court makes a huge leap to equate the Petitioner's case to the Smith case. 

Further, the Respondent's evidence lacks credibility. Respondent's witness, Melanie 

Clingan, testified that "[w]e had found that he - Mr. Greenfield - had been arrested." Ms. 

Clingan's only evidence as to the time Respondent found out, was a newspaper report. A.R. at 21. 

This Exhibit is the police and court report from the local newspaper. A.R. at 21, 22. The article 

was published in the newspaper on April 19, 2016, the day after Petitioner's Separation Notice 

1 Criminal charges against the Petitioner have not been resolved. His case is currently set to go to trial in 
September 2017. 
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was signed. A.R. 21-23. Respondent did not know of Mr. Greenfield's arrest until the same was 

reported in the newspaper on April 19,2016. A.R. at 14. Mr. Greenfield could not have been 

discharged as a result of his arrest as the discharge had been in progress before Respondent knew 

of the arrest. 

Petitioner's arrest was an event that only became known to Respondent PNGI after the date 

ofhis termination. A.R. at 14. The Respondents have attempted to capitalize on the heinous crime 

associated with Petitioner's arrest and influence the Court to find that an arrest, without conviction, 

rises to the level of "violation of laws" to support termination, a finding of gross misconduct, and 

disqualification for unemployment compensation benefits. Under the due process of law 

requirements in the United States such a finding cannot stand. The Circuit Court's decision 

disqualifying Petitioner from receiving unemployment compensation benefits should be reversed. 

2. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT E~D IN CONCLUDING THAT PETITIONER 
ENGAGED IN GROSS MISCONDUCT DUE TO ABSENCES FROM WORK. 

The Respondent employer's policy on absenteeism assigns employees a "point" per 

absence from work, including late arrival. A.R. at 14. The policy allows an employee to earn 

back, or subtract, points if the employee goes 90 days without missing a day. A.R. at 14. To 

illustrate, an employee could have six (6) absences in the first five (5) months of a rolling calendar 

year, thereby earning six (6) points. The employee may then report to work without absence for 

the next three (3) months, reducing the total points by one. At this point, the employee would have 

five (5) points. If the employee was absent four (4) additional times in the following three (3) 

months, he or she would have a total of 9 points. The employee would have been assessed a total 

often (10) points in the hypothetical rolling calendar year, but would not be subject to termination 

because he or she never had ten (10) points at anyone time. A.R. at 14. 
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In the present matter, Respondent PNGI provided unsupported testimony that Petitioner 

accumulated his tenth point on April 16, 2016. A.R. at 15. Respondent PNGI provided no 

evidence of actual dates of Petitioner's alleged absences, nor did Respondent PNGI address 

whether the Petitioner "earned back" any points for good attendance under the policy. No proof 

was provided to the Administrative Law Judge in order to determine whether Petitioner had in fact 

accumulated a sufficient number of points to be terminated. 

Petitioner provided testimony that contradicted that of Respondent PNGI's witness at the 

hearing before the Administrative Law Judge. A.R. at 15, 16. In fact, Petitioner believed he may 

have received his 10th point even before the date of his arrest. A.R. at 16. Aside from Respondent 

PNGI's witness saying so, there is no evidence of Petitioner's attendance record. Without such 

evidence, no finder of fact, can assess whether the employer acted properly when terminating 

Petitioner's employment on the basis of absenteei~m. Unemployment compensation laws are to 

be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. Dailey v. Board ofReview, 214 W.Va. 419, 589 

S.E.2d 797 (2003), Davenport v. Gatson, 192 W.Va. 117, 119,451 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1994). In this 

case, there is insufficient evidence to disqualify Petitioner from receiving unemployment 

compensation benefits. 

The Circuit Court's decision disqualifying Petitioner from receIvmg unemployment 

compensation benefits should be reversed. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court's decision disqualifying Petitioner from 

receiving unemployment compensation benefits should be reversed.