STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This administrative appeal regarding unemployment compensation benefits 

originates with Damon D. Greenfield's ("Greenfield") failure to report to work following his 

arrest for felony child pornography charges. 

PNGI operates Hollywood Casino located in Charles Town, West Virginia. 

Greenfield was employed by PNGI from June 21, 2010, through April 17, 2016. On April 16, 

2016, Greenfield was arrested on felony charges regarding child pornography. Greenfield was 

scheduled to work on April 16,2016; however, as a result of his felony arrest, he failed to report 

to work on that date. Greenfield's absence from work on April 16, 2016, constituted an 

unexcused absence and a violation ofPNGI's attendance and tardiness policy. Prior to April 16, 

2016, Greenfield had already accumulated nine (9) points under PNGI's attendance and tardiness 

policy as a result of prior policy infractions. He was warned about this. His unexcused absence 

on April 16, 2016, following his arrest for a felony child pornography charge, resulted in 

Greenfield receiving ten (10) points. Under PNGI's policy, employees are discharged when they 

accumulate ten (10) points under the attendance and tardiness policy. Additionally, Greenfield's 

arrest on felony charges regarding child pornography also violated PNGI's policy regarding off

duty misconduct. Accordingly, PNGI chose to terminate Greenfield's employment on April 17, 

2016. 

Greenfield filed the underlying claim for unemployment compensation benefits, 

and the matter proceeded through the administrative hearing process. A full evidentiary hearing 

was held before Administrative Law Judge Gregory A. Tucker ("ALJ Tucker") on June 16, 

2016. Both parties appeared and were afforded opportunities to present their testimony and 



exhibits. During the hearing, ALl Tucker identified and admitted into evidence a Fact Finding 

statement that was signed by Greenfield on May 6, 2016. (See Administrative Record ("AR"), at 

19). Notably, Greenfield omitted any reference to his absence on April 16, 2016, as well as his 

arrest for felony child pornography charges. Greenfield also misrepresented the effective date of 

his discharge. Nevertheless, the Fact Finding statement confirms Greenfield's awareness that he 

had received a prior written warning in March of 2016 regarding his absenteeism, and his 

understanding that he would be discharged if he experienced another unexcused absence. (Id). 

Greenfield never objected to the admission of this exhibit, and Greenfield never rebutted his 

prior statement regarding the written warning that he received. (AR, at 12-16). 

ALl Tucker also received testimony and evidence from PNGI, by and through 

Melanie Clingan, who served as a Human Resources Administrator for PNGI. Ms. Clingan 

testified as follows: 

1. 	 Greenfield was absent from work on April 16, 2016. (AR, at 13); 

11. 	 Following Greenfield's unexcused absence, Greenfield's employment was 
terminated due to violations of PNGI policy, including absenteeism and 
concerns regarding off-duty misconduct. (AR, at 13); 

iii. 	 The April 16, 2016 absence resulted in Greenfield accumulating ten (10) 
points under PNGI's attendance policy, which resulted in ternlination of 
employment pursuant to PNGI's Attendance and Punctuality policy. (AR, 
at 13); and, 

iv. 	 Greenfield had received prior written warnings regarding his absenteeism. 
(AR, at 12). 

Ms. Clingan's testimony was consistent with Greenfield's Fact Finding statement 

insofar as it confirmed that Greenfield received a prior written warning regarding absenteeism. 

More importantly, Greenfield failed to offer any evidence to rebut Ms. Clingan's testimony 

regarding Greenfield's "tenth point" or the prior warning that he received. Accordingly, there is 
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no factual dispute in the record below regarding Greenfield's history of unexcused absences, or 

the fact that Greenfield had another unexcused absence on April 16,2016. Moreover, during the 

evidentiary hearing before ALJ Tucker, Greenfield admitted that he was unable to report to work 

on April 16, 2016, due to the felony child pornography charges, and that a computer existed in 

his home that contained child pornography. (AR at 17-19). 

On June 16, 2016, ALJ Tucker rendered his decision and made the following key 

findings: 

1. 	 PNGI's absenteeism policy subjects employees to 
termination for accumulating ten points in a rolling 
calendar year; 

11. 	 Greenfield had warnings regarding his absenteeism and his 
possible discharge for reaching ten points; 

111. 	 PNGI's policy also subjected employees to termination for 
... off duty conduct which adversely affects job 
performance or tends to bring discredit to [PNGI]; 

IV. 	 Greenfield was arrested on April 16, 2016 on felony 
charges of child pornography; 

v. 	 A result of Greenfield's arrest, he missed worked on April 
16,2016; and, 

vi. 	 Greenfield's absence on April 16, 2016, violated PNGI's 
policy insofar as his absence was unexcused, and because 
Greenfield engaged in off duty conduct that brought 
discredit upon PNGI. 

(AR 24-26). 

Based on these findings, ALJ Tucker determined that Greenfield was discharged 

for gross misconduct, thus disqualifying him from receiving unemployment compensation 

benefits. (Id). 
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Greenfield appealed to the Board of Review for Workforce West Virginia. By 

written decision dated August 9,2016, the Board of Review adopted the findings of ALl Tucker 

without reservation or exception, and affirmed ALl Tucker's determination that Greenfield was 

discharged for gross misconduct. 

On September 12, 2016, Greenfield filed a Petition for Review in the Circuit 

Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia. By Order dated November 17, 2016, the Circuit 

Court established a briefing schedule and directed the parties to submit proposed orders by 

February 9, 2017. PNGI submitted its proposed order on February 9, 2017, and copied 

Greenfield. Inexplicably, Greenfield did not submit a proposed order. Two weeks later, on 

February 23, 2017, the Circuit Court entered the proposed order submitted by PNGI and affirmed 

the Board of Review's finding that Greenfield was disqualified from receiving unemployment 

compensation benefits due to gross misconduct. I 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The undisputed record below demonstrates that Greenfield was absent from work 

on April 16,2016, as a result of his arrest on child pornography charges. The undisputed record 

also demonstrates that Greenfield's unexcused absence violated PNGI's policy, and that he had 

been warned, in writing, regarding his absenteeism. Finally, the undisputed record demonstrates 

that Greenfield's arrest on child pornography charges violated PNGI's policy. These facts 

clearly satisfy the gross misconduct standard set forth in W.Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2). 

1 Greenfield argues that the Circuit Court failed to exercise its "independent judicial function" because the 
Certificate of Service attached to proposed order that was adopted by the Circuit Court contains a date stamp of 
February 23, 2017; however, the docket sheet clearly shows that Respondent's proposed order was docketed on 
February 8, 2017, and that the fmal order from which this appeal is taken was entered on February 23, 2017. 
Accordingly, Greenfield's oblique reference to independent judicial function is unsupported by the record. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


Oral argument is unnecessary in this case. The dispositive legal issue has been 

decided by this Court. See Alcan Rolled Products, LLC v. McCarthy, 234 W.Va. 312, 765 

S.E.2d 201 (2014). Additionally, Greenfield admitted that he was absent, without excuse, on 

April 16, 2016, and that he was warned for absenteeism. He admitted that he was arrested on 

charges for child pornography. These admissions, standing alone, satisfy the gross misconduct 

standard set forth in W.Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2). Accordingly, the facts and legal arguments are 

adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal. 

ARGUMENT 

The circuit court, and ALJ Tucker, properly determined that Greenfield's absence 

from work following his arrest for child pornography satisfied the gross misconduct standard set 

forth in W.Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2)(5). There is no dispute in the record below that Greenfield's 

absence was unexcused and that he has been warned about absenteeism. There is no dispute that 

Greenfield's unexcused absence subjected him to discharge pursuant to PNGI's policy. 

Moreover, there is no dispute in the record below that Greenfield's unexcused absence was the 

product of his arrest on child pornography charges. Greenfield now contends that ALJ Tucker 

failed to properly evaluate Greenfield's absenteeism by relying upon witness testimony alone. 

As explained below, however, Greenfield's contention invites the Court to disturb factual 

findings that are entitled to substantial deference. 
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A. 	 Greenfield's absence from work on April 16, 2016, following his arrest for child 
pornography, constitutes gross misconduct. 

Employees discharged from employment for gross misconduct are disqualified 

from receiving unemployment compensation benefits. W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2). Gross 

misconduct is defined as follows: 

(1) 	 willful destruction of the employer's property; 

(2) 	 assault upon the employer or another employee in certain 
circumstances; 

(3) 	 certain instances of use of alcohol or controlled substances 
as delineated in West Virginia Code § 21A-6-3; 

(4) 	 arson, theft, larceny, fraud, or embezzlement in connection 
with employment; or 

(5) 	 any other gross misconduct which shall include but not be 
limited to instances where the employee has received prior 
written notice that his continued acts of misconduct may 
result in termination ofemployment [.J 

Herbert J Thomas Mem'l Hosp. v. Bd Of Review Of W Virginia Bureau Of Employment 

Programs, 218 W. Va. 29, 30, 620 S.E.2d 169, 170 (2005) (emphasis added) (citing W. Va. 

Code § 21A-6-3(2)). 

The record below supports ALl Tucker's conclusion that Greenfield committed 

gross misconduct as set forth in W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2)(5). Importantly, the definition of 

gross misconduct extends to those instances where the employer has notified the employee, in 

writing, that his continued acts of misconduct may result in termination of employment. The 

record below demonstrates that Greenfield was warned about the consequences of continued 

absences and that he received this warning, in writing, one month prior to his discharge. He was 

absent on April 16,2016, following his arrest for felony child pornography charges. Moreover, 

Greenfield received his "tenth point" pursuant to PNGI's attendance policy following his 
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unexcused absence on April 16, 2016. These facts were undisputed below, and they clearly 

support the statutory definition of "gross misconduct." See Higginbotham v. Charleston Area 

Medical Center, No. 15-1211 (W.Va. Supreme Court; Nov. 20, 2016)(memorandum 

decision)(affirming circuit court determination that claimant committed gross misconduct due to 

recurrent and excessive tardiness and after being warned). Like the claimant in Higginbotham, 

ALJ Tucker's finding that Greenfield engaged in gross misconduct should be affinned on the 

basis of Greenfield's unexcused absences. 

Separate and apart from Greenfield's absence, his arrest on a felony charge of 

child pornography independently satisfies the gross misconduct standard set forth in W. Va. 

Code § 21A-6-3(2)(5). As cited above, that section provides that there may be other examples of 

gross misconduct that disqualify someone from receiving unemployment compensation benefits, 

even if that person has not been warned. As the Supreme Court has noted: "[T]he phrase, 'other 

gross misconduct ... evidences the legislature'S intent to provide some element ofdiscretion in 

the Board and reviewing courts, based upon the peculiar facts ofeach case." Smith v. The Brd 

ofEduc. ofBerkeley, No. 14-0851 (W.Va Sup. Crt. of Appeals; May 15, 2015) (memorandum 

decision), citing Alcan Rolled Products, LLC v. McCarthy, 234 W.Va. 312, 765 S.E.2d 201, 210

211 (2014). In A lean , the Court provided further explanation: 

Where the catch-all provision of 'other gross misconduct' in West 
Virginia Code § 21A-6--3(2) is utilized as a basis for denial of all 
unemployment compensation benefits in the absence of a 
qualifying prior written warning, the employer is required to 
furnish evidence that the act in question rises to a level of 
seriousness equal to or exceeding that of the other specifically 
enumerated items, and a resolution of matters brought under this 
subdivision must be analyzed on a case-by-case basis. 

Alcan, at Syl. Pt. 4. 
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Applying Syllabus Point 4 from Alcan, the Court in Smith reviewed and approved 

of the circuit court's use of discretion to find that the claimant in that case had committed gross 

misconduct when she participated in a prank involving an aerosol deodorant spray. The Court 

noted that the claimant's contempt for her co-worker and disregard of her professionalism 

supported a fmding of gross misconduct, despite the fact that the claimant had not been warned 

regarding these incidents. Smith, at *5. Greenfield's situation is similar to the claimant in Smith. 

There is no dispute that he committed an act that rises to the level of seriousness that equals or 

exceeds the other items listed in the statute (e.g., destruction of property, assault, use of 

controlled substances, etc.). He admitted, under oath, that his home computer contained child 

pornography. There is no dispute that he was arrested for this felony charge. These are 

egregious facts that give rise to criminal charges, and they are far worse than the examples cited 

W. Va. Code § 21A-6-3(2)(5). Given the particular facts of this claim, ALJ Tucker's 

determination that Greenfield engaged in gross misconduct should be affirmed. 

B. Greenfield's contentions on appeal are without merit. 

1. ALJ Tucker properly credited the unrebutted testimony of Ms. Clingan. 

Greenfield contends that ALJ Tucker improperly relied upon the unrebutted 

testimony of Ms. Clingan regarding Greenfield's absences. In support of this argument, 

Greenfield asserts that "no proof' was offered to ALJ Tucker regarding Greenfield's 

accumulated points under PNGI's attendance policy. This assertion is simply wrong, and it is 

immaterial. Ms. Clingan testified that Greenfield had accumulated ten (10) points under PNGI's 

no fault attendance policy, and that discharge of employment was the standard course of action 

following the accumulation of ten (10) points, and otherwise consistent with PNGI policy. 

Greenfield never challenged this testimony with any contradictory evidence. It was unrebutted. 

8 




Greenfield now challenges Ms. Clingan's testimony by asserting that she failed to 

corroborate her own testimony with documentary evidence. Greenfield failed to cite any 

authority for this novel proposition, and none exists. In any event, this Court has affirmed 

factual findings made by hearing examiners based upon unrebutted witness testimony. See, e.g., 

Erps v. West Virginia Human Rights Comm 'n, 224 W. Va. 126, 680 S.E.2d 371 (2009) 

(upholding a factual finding of the administrative law judge based upon "the unrebutted 

testimony of [the complainant]"). Similar holdings have been reached by other courts. See, e.g., 

Smith v. Chicago Bd. of Educ., 176 Ill.App.3d 109, 530 N.E.2d 1089, 1095 (1988) ("oral 

testimony that is competent and relevant stands on its own and does not require cumulative or 

corroborative evidence to establish its authority, if otherwise credible."); Sweilem v. illinois 

Dept. ofRevenue, 372 Ill.App.3d 475,865 N.E.2d 459,469 (2007) (upholding a hearing officer's 

fact determinations based upon the "more than sufficient evidence ... in the form ofunrebutted 

testimony"). 

In sum, the lack of documentary evidence to support Ms. Clingan's testimony is 

insufficient to disturb ALJ Tucker's factual fmdings that Greenfield violated PNGI's attendance 

policy. ALJ Tucker clearly credited Ms. Clingan's testimony in finding that Greenfield had 

accumulated his tenth point, and he had a reliable factual basis from which to do so. There 

simply is no response to disturb ALl Tucker's factual findings. 

Greenfield's assertion that ALJ Tucker improperly relied upon Ms. Clingan's 

testimony is also immaterial. Greenfield admitted that he was absent on April 16,2016, because 

he had been arrested on felony charges regarding child pornography. He admitted that he had 

been warned about absenteeism. Even assuming, arguendo, that PNGI deviated from its 

attendance policy, that deviation does not alter the dispositive facts regarding this claim. See 
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Higginbotham v. Charleston Area Medical Center, No. 15-1211 (W.Va. Supreme Court; Nov. 

10, 2016)(memorandum decision)(rejecting similar argument where employer allegedly failed to 

provide notice of policy to claimant, but claimant admitted to being tardy and being warned). 

Greenfield engaged in misconduct. As he admitted on his own Fact Finding statement, 

Greenfield had been warned about the same conduct in the past, and he has been told that future 

occurrences could result in termination of his employment. These facts were undisputed below, 

and they satisfy the statutory definition of gross misconduct. Accordingly, it is immaterial 

whether PNG1 deviated from its absentee policy. 

2. Greenfield's Warnings for Absenteeism. 

Greenfield contends that ALJ Tucker mistakenly concluded that Greenfield had 

been warned about prior absences based upon PNGI's alleged failure to produce documentary 

evidence in support of Ms. Clingan's testimony. This assertion dismisses the significance of Ms. 

Clingan's unrebutted testimony, and otherwise ignores the fact that Greenfield admitted to being 

warned. As explained above, Greenfield admitted in his Fact Finding statement that he had been 

warned: "I had received prior written warnings concerning this. I had received the written 

warning on Mar [sic] of 2016. The written warning did state I would be discharged if this 

occurred again." Additionally, Ms. Clingan confirmed that Greenfield was warned about his 

absenteeism. 

These were the facts relied upon by ALJ Tucker when he concluded that 

"claimant had warnings regarding his absenteeism and his possible discharge for reaching ten 

points." This finding is supported by factual evidence in the record, and it is entitled to 

substantial deference. Accordingly, Greenfield's contention that ALJ Tucker mistakenly 

concluded that Greenfield had been warned is without merit. 
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3. Greenfield's Arrest for Felony Child Pornography. 

Greenfield contends that ALJ Tucker erroneously found that Greenfield violated 

employer policy due to his arrest for child pornography charges. This contention is incorrect and 

immaterial. During the June 16,2016 hearing, Ms. Clingan introduced an exhibit that identified 

examples of inappropriate conduct that could result in discharge. Importantly, that policy 

identified the following example: "Violation of laws on or off Company premises, or off-duty 

conduct which adversely affects job performance or tends to bring discredit to [PNGI]." 

Greenfield's arrest for felony child pornography charges clearly falls within this category. It was 

off-duty conduct that adversely affected Greenfield's job performance by preventing him from 

appearing for work. 

Greenfield's contention is also immaterial. PNGI is not required to have a policy 

that discourages employees from getting arrested for possessing or distributing child 

pornography in order for that conduct to operate as a disqualification for unemployment 

compensation benefits. As explained above, Greenfield's arrest for felony child pornography 

and his admission that his computer contained child pornography satisfy the gross misconduct 

standard under West Virginia law. An employer is not required to have a policy that addresses 

every instance of gross misconduct. As noted by the Court in Alcan, the discretion to make that 

determination is reserved for the Board of Review and this Court. Alcan, 234 W.Va. at 321; 765 

S.E.2d at 210 (citing Syl. Pt. 5, Dailey v. Bd. ofReview, 214 W.Va. 419,589 S.E.2d 797 (2003). 

The central issue is whether Greenfield's conduct "rises to a level of seriousness equal to or 

exceeding that of the other specifically enumerated items[.]" Syl. Pt. 4, Alcan. Accordingly, the 

key inquiry is Greenfield's conduct, not whether his conduct violated a particular PNGI policy. 

11 




Greenfield's arrest, and his subsequent admission that child pornography was on his computer, 

constitute gross misconduct. 

CONCLUSION 

Greenfield's appeal from the decision of the circuit court is unsupported by law or 

the record below. The unrebutted testimony below supports ALJ Tucker's determination that 

Greenfield was absent on April 16, 2016, as a result of being arrested on child pornography 

charges. The unexcused absence constituted a violation ofPNGI's attendance policy, and he had 

been warned previous. Likewise, Greenfield's arrest on child pornography charges also 

constituted a violation of PNGI's policy regarding off-duty conduct. Greenfield's absence and 

his arrest create independent and justifiable grounds upon which to deny him unemployment 

compensation benefits. Accordingly, the Court should AFFIRM the Final Order of the circuit 

court.